**RECEIVED**

**Dec 05 2022**

**SC Court of Appeals**

IN THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

In the Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM FLORENCE COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

Michael G. Nettles, Circuit Court Judge  
Civil Action No. 2021-CP-21-02042

---

Appellate Case No. 2022-000729

---

Thomas Rodriquis Nelson.....Respondent,

v.

Florence Concrete Products, Inc.....Appellant.

---

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

---

December 5, 2022

s/ Anthony W. Livoti  
Anthony W. Livoti (SCB 13971)  
Wesley B. Sawyer, Esquire (SCB 100229)  
Cordes B. Kennedy (SCB 102287)  
Murphy & Grantland, P.A.  
P.O. Box 6648  
Columbia, SC 29260  
Phone: (803) 782-4100  
awlivoti@murphygrantland.com

## **STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL**

1. Did the lower court err in holding that the transportation of oversize or overweight (OSOW) loads by a federally authorized motor carrier is so inherently dangerous that anyone who hires the independent contractor motor carrier is directly liable for the motor carrier's subsequent negligence?

2. Did the lower court err in holding that an independent contractor's unilateral decision to operate an OSOW load before daylight, in violation of an OSOW permit and South Carolina law, is a risk that is inherent in the movement of an OSOW?

3. Did the lower court err in holding that Florence Concrete had notice of an inherent risk when there is no evidence that Nesbitt Transportation previously operated OSOW loads outside of legally permissible times?

## **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

This case arises out of a motor vehicle accident that occurred in the early morning hours of January 4, 2019. At the time of the collision, Calvin Rouse – an employee of Nesbitt Transportation, Inc. – was transporting a 72-foot cement slab from South Carolina to North Carolina for use in bridge construction. Because of the length of the slab, the load was considered oversized. Nesbitt Transportation, as the federally authorized motor carrier, obtained oversize/overweight load (OSOW) permits from South Carolina and North Carolina so that it could transport the load. Although the permit included restrictions requiring the load to be transported during daytime hours, Nesbitt's driver made the unilateral decision to operate the tractor-trailer outside of the times allowed by the permit. Respondent Thomas Nelson was injured when his vehicle collided with the load.

Appellant Florence Concrete is the defendant in this lawsuit. Florence Concrete manufactures concrete products, including the concrete slab that Nesbitt was transporting at the time of the loss. Florence Concrete did not own the tractor-trailer involved in the incident, it did not employ Mr. Rouse, and Respondent concedes that Nesbitt Transportation was an independent contractor. Florence Concrete, a manufacturer of concrete products, hired Nesbitt Transportation, a federally authorized motor carrier in the business of transporting items on the highways, to transport the load. Nesbitt Transportation negligently transported the load. Respondent filed suit, and Nesbitt Transportation and Mr. Rouse settled the claims against them. Respondent then pursued Florence Concrete on the theory that transportation of an OSOW load is “inherently dangerous,” such that Florence Concrete is directly liable despite the independent contractor rule.

The Circuit Court adopted Respondent’s argument and held a shipper can be liable for an independent contractor’s operation of an OSOW load outside of permitted hours because transport of an OSOW load is inherently dangerous. The ramifications of such a holding are breathtaking. Millions of OSOW permits are issued every year nationwide.<sup>1</sup> If the Circuit Court’s decision is affirmed, then every person who hires a federally authorized motor carrier to transport an OSOW load is personally liable for any resulting negligence of the federally authorized motor carrier. For example, a purchaser of a mobile home that hires a federally authorized motor carrier to transport the mobile home to his land would now be personally liable for the tractor-trailer driver’s negligence. The number of industries and individuals that would be impacted by such a drastic change to the independent contractor rule is incalculable.

---

<sup>1</sup> *Freight Facts and Figures 2017*, USDOT Bureau of Transportation Statistics, p. 3-24, table 3-14 (noting that over 5,000,000 OSOW permits were issued annually in 2013, 2014, and 2015) (available at [https://www.bts.dot.gov/sites/bts.dot.gov/files/docs/FFF\\_2017\\_Full\\_June2018\\_revision.pdf](https://www.bts.dot.gov/sites/bts.dot.gov/files/docs/FFF_2017_Full_June2018_revision.pdf), last accessed July 19, 2022).

The Circuit Court misapplied the independent contractor rule and its exception for inherently dangerous activities. The stipulated facts in this case reveal that the accident could have been avoided if Nesbitt Transportation's driver had operated the tractor trailer during the times allowed in the permit. If conduct can be carried out safely by following simple safety precautions – such as obeying the terms of a permit and the law – then the conduct is not inherently dangerous. The Circuit Court erred in holding otherwise and should be reversed.

This declaratory judgment action began as a traditional personal injury suit. On September 9, 2019, Respondent filed his first Summons and Complaint naming various iterations of Nesbitt Transportation and its driver, Calvin Rouse. (R. pp. 42-55). Respondent added Florence Concrete as an additional defendant via an Amended Complaint on October 21, 2019. (R. pp. 58-75). Later, the defendants were reduced to Nesbitt Transportation, Inc.; Calvin A. Rouse; and Florence Concrete Products, Inc.

On or about March 17, 2021, Respondent settled his claims against Nesbitt Transportation and its driver, Mr. Rouse, and entered a Stipulation of Dismissal as to those defendants only. (R. p. 84). After settling with Nesbitt Transportation and Mr. Rouse, Respondent and Florence Concrete entered into a settlement agreement where the parties would submit two issues of law to the court based on stipulated facts contained in a Consent Order filed on December 9, 2021. (R. pp. 18-23). The issues would be submitted in the form of a new amended pleading seeking declaratory relief.

Pursuant to that agreement, on January 4, 2022, Respondent filed an Amended Complaint for Declaratory Judgment, naming only Florence Concrete as a defendant. (R. pp. 30-36). The Declaratory Complaint asked the lower court to consider the following two legal issues:

- 1) Did Defendant Florence Concrete Products, Inc., as a shipper of oversized loads that require an oversize/overweight permit for travel over the highway, owe a

duty of care to Plaintiff to take measures beyond verbally contracting for the shipment of the load, when the shipper contracts with a properly-insured independent contractor motor carrier that has U.S. Department of Transportation operating authority and where the independent contractor motor carrier has secured the proper permits from the South Carolina and North Carolina Departments of Transportation for such oversize/overweight loads?

- 2) If Defendant Florence Concrete Products, Inc. owed a duty of care, did it breach that duty?

(R. p. 31, ¶ 6). Florence Concrete timely filed an Answer and Counterclaim to Plaintiff's Declaratory Complaint. (R. pp. 37-41). The parties filed cross-motions for summary judgment based on the stipulated facts, requesting the lower court to decide the two issues of law stated above. (R. pp. 99-92 & 124-126). The parties' duties and obligations under the settlement agreement are dependent on the answers to these issues.

On March 10, 2022, the Honorable Michael Nettles held a hearing on the cross-motions. Respondent did not dispute that Nesbitt Transportation and Mr. Rouse were independent contractors at the time of the accident, thus bringing this case within the well-established rule that an employer is not liable for the negligence of an independent contractor. (R. p. 8). Rather, Respondent argued that the transportation of an OSOW load is "inherently dangerous," triggering the narrow and rarely used exception to the independent contractor rule. (R. p. 99).

On April 29, 2022, the Circuit Court granted Respondent's motion, holding that transportation of an OSOW load was inherently dangerous. (R. p. 8). In reaching its decision, the Circuit Court relied on the following: (1) South Carolina requires a motor carrier to obtain a permit before transporting an OSOW load; (2) the OSOW permit prohibits movement of the OSOW load outside of certain times; (3) Nesbitt Transportation moved the load at a prohibited time; and (4) Florence Concrete's shipping manager testified that operating an OSOW load at a time that is not allowable creates an inherent risk and danger to the public.

As a result of the Circuit Court’s holding, Florence Concrete is liable for Nesbitt’s conduct even though Respondent concedes that Nesbitt was an independent contractor. In essence, the Circuit Court found Florence Concrete owed a duty to ensure that Nesbitt Transportation – the federally authorized motor carrier – operated the load in accordance with the law applicable to motor carriers and in accordance with the terms of a permit that was issued to Nesbitt Transportation. The Circuit Court’s holding makes Florence Concrete responsible for controlling the acts of a commercial motor carrier even though it is undisputed that: (1) Nesbitt Transportation and was an independent contractor; (2) Florence Concrete did not control the means or methods of Nesbitt Transportation’s operations; (3) the OSOW permit was issued to Nesbitt Transportation; and (4) Florence Concrete was not aware Mr. Rouse had chosen to transport the load outside of permitted hours.

On May 27, 2022, Florence Concrete timely filed this appeal.

### **STATEMENT OF THE FACTS**

#### **I. Nesbitt Transportation is a federally authorized motor carrier that contracted to transport an OSOW load.**

The facts of this case have been fully stipulated pursuant to a Consent Order entered by the lower court on December 9, 2021. Nesbitt Transportation is a federally authorized motor carrier, carrying a USDOT number and operating authority from the Federal Motor Carrier Safety Administration (FMCSA). (R. p. 21, ¶ 8(k)). The USDOT sets standards and requirements for a company to obtain a USDOT number and to operate commercial motor vehicles. Nesbitt Transportation contracted to transport a 72-foot long by 2-foot-wide cement slab from South Carolina to North Carolina to be used in a bridge construction project. (R. p. 19, ¶ 8(a)). Due to the length of the slab, the load was oversized and required OSOW permits from the South Carolina and North Carolina DOTs. (R. p. 19, ¶ 8(a)).

**II. Nesbitt Transportation obtained the proper OSOW permits from the South Carolina and North Carolina Departments of Transportation.**

Pursuant to the requirements for a motor carrier to transport OSOW loads, Nesbitt Transportation obtained oversize permits, including OSOW permit number RB4441R2489 from the South Carolina Department of Transportation and OSOW permit number 90103500341 from the North Carolina Department of Transportation. (R. p. 19, ¶ 8(c)). To obtain the permits, Nesbitt Transportation had to provide true and accurate information regarding its USDOT operating authority number, insurance information, and vehicle information. (R. p. 19, ¶ 8(c)). After reviewing this information, the SCDOT and NCDOT each issued their respective OSOW permits to Nesbitt Transportation. (R. p. 19, ¶ 8(c)). Pursuant to South Carolina law, the South Carolina OSOW permit prohibited Nesbitt Transportation from transporting the load during certain times, particularly outside of daylight hours.

**III. Nesbitt Transportation's driver, Mr. Rouse, picked up the load from an unmanned lot and chose to transport the load outside of the times permitted by the permit and South Carolina law.**

On January 3, 2019, Nesbitt Transportation's driver, Mr. Rouse, picked up the load from an unmanned lot located at 865 Industrial Road in Sumter, South Carolina. The load had the permit attached, which contained, among other things, the restriction as to what times the load could be transported. Even though it was later than the time stated on the permit, Mr. Rouse made the decision to take the load at or about 5:00 p.m. (R. p. 20, ¶ 8(d)).

Mr. Rouse drove the load to a commercial lot near his home without incident and parked for the night. (R. p. 20, ¶ 8(e)). He then went home for the evening. On the morning of January 4, 2019, Mr. Rouse decided to get an early start. (R. p. 20, ¶ 8(f)). Despite the plain terms on the permit stating the load could not be operated outside of daylight hours, Mr. Rouse took the tractor-

trailer from the commercial lot before sunrise. (R. p. 20, ¶ 8(f)). At approximately 6:30 a.m., Respondent was driving to work when he struck the load and was injured. (R. p. 20, ¶ 8(f)).

Respondent sued Nesbitt Transportation and Mr. Rouse, both of whom were dismissed after they settled. (R. p. 84).

#### **IV. Florence Concrete is a concrete fabricator that has been sued for the negligent conduct of Nesbitt Transportation.**

Respondent also sued Florence Concrete. Florence Concrete is a concrete fabricator, and it fabricated the cement slab carried by the trailer at the time of the accident. (R. p. 19, ¶ 8(a)). Florence Concrete's only involvement with the load was hiring Nesbitt Transportation to transport the load, pre-loading the slab onto the trailer, and attaching the permits that were issued to Nesbitt Transportation. (R. p. 19, ¶ 8(b)). There is no allegation that the slab was improperly loaded onto the Nesbitt Transportation trailer. The load was pre-loaded and placed in the unmanned lot, so Florence Concrete was not aware of when Nesbitt Transportation's driver picked up the trailer. (R. p. 19, ¶ 8(b)).

Florence Concrete contracted with Nesbitt Transportation – a federally authorized motor carrier – to transport the concrete slab. It is undisputed that Nesbitt Transportation was an independent contractor – i.e., Florence Concrete did not control the means or methods of Nesbitt Transportation's job. (R. pp. 8 & p. 20, ¶ 8(f)). As noted above, the OSOW permits were applied for and issued to Nesbitt Transportation, not Florence Concrete. (R. p. 19, ¶ 8(c) & pp. 24-27). The permits list Nesbitt Transportation as the responsible motor carrier and include Nesbitt Transportation's USDOT number and the license plate number for the truck and trailer owned by Nesbitt Transportation. (R. pp. 24-27).

Florence Concrete had a long history of hiring Nesbitt Transportation to transport its products, dating back to 1992 – approximately 27 years. (R. p. 21, ¶ 8(k)). Nesbitt Transportation

hailed the “vast majority” of Florence Concrete’s loads and had done so without any prior motor vehicle accidents and only minor property damage incidents. (R. p. 21, ¶ 8(k)). It is undisputed that Nesbitt Transportation had the proper licensing, insurance, and operating authority to carry the load in question. No restrictions were in place against Nesbitt. (R. p. 21, ¶ 8(k)). Florence Concrete knew that Nesbitt Transportation was insured, authorized to carry the load by state and federal authorities, and properly permitted.<sup>2</sup> (R. p. 19, ¶ 8(c)).

Importantly, Florence Concrete did not know any of the following:

- 1) “Florence Concrete was not aware of the time that Mr. Rouse left its [unmanned] lot with the oversized load nor was it aware that the oversized load left the lot at a time that violated the oversized permit” (R. p. 20, ¶ 8(e)).
- 2) “Florence Concrete did not provide instructions to Nesbitt Transportation or Mr. Rouse on when to move the load” (R. p. 20, ¶ 8(f)); and
- 3) Mr. Rouse chose to leave early on the morning of the accident, without Florence Concrete’s knowledge (R. p. 20, ¶ 8(f)).

At all times relevant to this lawsuit, Nesbitt Transportation and its driver Mr. Rouse were the “motor carrier” responsible for transporting the load. Florence Concrete, on the other hand, was just a concrete fabricator and “shipper” of its products.<sup>3</sup>

---

<sup>2</sup> Respondent contended that Nesbitt Transportation had a “conditional safety rating” from the FMCSA. (R. p. 20, ¶ 8(h)). However, it is undisputed that Florence Concrete was not aware of that rating. It is also undisputed that there were no regulatory restrictions on Nesbitt Transportation to operate the load in question. (R. p. 21, ¶ 8(i)). Moreover, this information is not relevant to the “inherently dangerous” question, and the Circuit Court declined to rule on the issue of duties in connection with hiring an independent contractor. Therefore, this information is irrelevant to the issues before this Court on appeal.

<sup>3</sup> The terms “shipper” and “motor carrier” have separate meanings under the FMCSA Regulations, and the distinction is important. A “shipper” is a person who tenders property to a motor carrier for transportation, whereas a for-hire “motor carrier” is a person engaged in the transportation of goods or passengers for compensation. 49 C.F.R. § 390.5.

## **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

When the parties file cross-motions for summary judgment, the issue becomes a question of law for the Court to decide *de novo*. *Wiegand v. U.S. Auto. Ass'n*, 391 S.C. 159, 163, 705 S.E.2d 432, 434 (2011). Thus, the appellate court may evaluate the issues “with no particular deference to the trial court.” *Id.* (citations omitted).

## **ARGUMENT**

For over 150 years, South Carolina courts have applied the well-established rule that a company is not liable for the acts of an independent contractor. This State’s courts have closely guarded this rule, recognizing only a handful of exceptions. In short, the “inherently dangerous” exception to the independent contractor rule is a narrow one. However, the Circuit Court’s treatment of the “inherently dangerous” exception is so broad that the exception risks swallowing the rule in its entirety. Each state issues tens of thousands – and in many states, hundreds of thousands – of OSOW permits every year. By simply obeying state and federal traffic laws and the terms of the issued permits, federally authorized motor carriers can and do transport these loads without incident.

Despite the incredible regularity of transporting OSOW loads, the Circuit Court’s Order creates a new and strikingly broad exception to the independent contractor rule: anyone hiring a federally authorized motor carrier to transport an OSOW load is now liable for that motor carrier’s tortious conduct. The Circuit Court’s reasoning fails to identify how the transportation of an OSOW load in accordance with the terms of the SCDOT permit is inherently dangerous. In fact, had Nesbitt Transportation merely complied with the terms of the SCDOT permit, the accident would not have happened. An activity is not inherently dangerous if it can be done safely by merely

following the law. Thus, the inherently dangerous exception does not apply, and this Court should reverse.

The lower court misapplied the inherently dangerous exception in several ways. First, the transportation activity at issue is not inherently dangerous. No South Carolina appellate court, or any court cited by Respondent, has applied the exception in a transportation context. The load (measuring 72ft. long) poses no inherent danger because it is an inanimate and largely inert object. It is not like explosives, toxic chemicals and pesticides, or other volatile objects – the sort of items South Carolina has deemed to be inherently dangerous or ultrahazardous. In fact, this load did not even require pilot cars or other similar measures. Nesbitt Transportation merely had to stay on certain roads and drive at appropriate hours. These are far from the type of extraordinary precautionary measures that would support application of the inherently dangerous exception to the independent contractor rule.

Second, the danger created by Mr. Rouse’s negligence was not inherent to the transportation work itself. For the exception to apply, the danger must “inhere” to the work.<sup>4</sup> The danger must arise out of the **normal** operation of the activity, which is not satisfied here. The hours in which Mr. Rouse was allowed to operate the load are clearly defined by South Carolina statute and the SCDOT permit assigned to Nesbitt Transportation, so it cannot be said that Mr. Rouse’s decision to violate the permit and break the law was just “part of the job” or otherwise “inherent”

---

<sup>4</sup> The word “inhere” means “to exist as a permanent, inseparable, or essential attribute or quality of a thing; to be intrinsic to something.” Black’s Law Dictionary (11th ed. 2019); *see also S.C. Nat. Gas Co. v. Phillips*, 289 F.2d 143, 147–48 (4th Cir. 1961) (analogizing that the operation of a 30-ton piece of earth-moving equipment near playing children might be reckless and said to have created a risk of harm to children, but that is not a danger that is inherent in the work of earth-moving).

in the work. Mr. Rouse's negligence created a new danger separate and apart from the normal transportation of the OSOW load.

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