RECEIVED

Nov 21 2022

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM FLORENCE COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Michael G. Nettles, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2022-000729

Thomas Rodriquis Nelson,.....Respondent,

v.

Florence Concrete Products, Inc.,.....Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

BARNES LAW FIRM, LLC
Kathleen C. Barnes, SC Bar No. 78854
kbarnes@barneslawfirmssc.com
P.O. Box 897
Hampton, SC 29924
803-943-4529

KING, LOVE, HUPFER & NANCE, LLC
Ashley B. Nance, SC Bar No. 78463
ANance@kingandlove.com
135 South Dargan Street, Suite 201
Post Office Box 1764
Florence, S.C. 29503
(843) 407-5525

LAW OFFICE OF LINWARD C.
EDWARDS, II

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

ARGUMENT

Florence Concrete’s appellate strategy is as obvious as it is unavailing. It paints a picture of “breathtaking” “ramifications” that are “incalculable” by alleging that the lower court’s holding means “anyone” or “every person” who hires a federally authorized motor carrier will be “personally liable for any resulting negligence” or “tortious conduct” of the motor carrier. (Br. of App. pp. 2, 9, 11). Florence Concrete represents to this Court that the lower court “broadly held” that the inherent danger exception categorically “applies to the transportation of o[versize] loads” and makes “any shipper” “vicariously liable for an independent contractor’s negligence.” (Br. of App. p. 17). That is absolutely **not** what the lower court held. To the contrary, the lower court made explicit that its decision is based on “the particular facts of this case”—not a categorical rule—and that Florence Concrete is “liable for its **own** negligent conduct”—not vicariously liable for the negligent conduct of Nesbitt Transportation. (R. pp. 11, 14) (emphasis added).

Florence Concrete stipulated to the existence of proximate cause. (R. pp. 6, 11). Based on that stipulation, Florence Concrete agreed that its alleged conduct is a proximate cause of Nelson’s injuries. *See Roddey v. Wal-Mart Stores E., LP*, 415 S.C. 580, 590, 784 S.E.2d 670, 676 (2016) (“The defendant’s negligence does not have to be the sole proximate cause of the plaintiff’s injury; instead, the plaintiff must prove the defendant’s negligence was at least one of the proximate causes of the injury.”). Therefore, Florence Concrete is not (and cannot argue that it is) being held liable for Nesbitt Transportation’s negligence. Perhaps more importantly, Florence Concrete

completely ignores the significant, possibly dispositive, fact that it agreed in the stipulated facts “that being on the road with an oversize shipment at a time that is not allowable creates an inherent risk and danger to the public.” (R. p. 19). Many of its arguments on appeal are a back-door attempt to renege on the stipulated facts that form the basis of the settlement agreement. This is improper and legally impossible at this procedural posture.

The Court should affirm the lower court’s finding that Florence Concrete owed Nelson a duty for three independent reasons. First, Florence Concrete did not appeal the lower court’s finding that the language of the duty question establishes that Florence Concrete owes a duty to contract with a shipper with operating authority, insurance, and a proper permit. That holding is the law of the case, and the Court should affirm on this basis alone. Second, the lower court correctly held that the inherent danger exception applies to the stipulated facts of this case. Third, as an additional sustaining ground, this Court should hold that Florence Concrete owed Nelson a duty to use reasonable care in the selection of an independent contractor. For any one of these reasons, the Court should affirm.

I. The Court should affirm because Florence Concrete did not appeal the lower court’s holding that Florence Concrete owed Nelson a duty to contract with a shipper with operating authority, insurance, and a proper permit.

The parties negotiated a settlement that the lower court put into a consent order. Part of that settlement was the language of the two questions to be decided in a declaratory judgment action. The language of the duty question that the parties agreed to asks whether “Florence Concrete . . . owe[d] a duty of care to Plaintiff to take measures **beyond** verbally contracting for the shipment of the load, when the shipper contracts with a properly-insured motor carrier [with] . . . operating authority . . . [that] has secured the proper permits.” (R. pp. 18-19) (emphasis added). The lower court held that language establishes that Florence Concrete owed Nelson a duty to contract with a shipper with operating authority, insurance, and a proper permit. (R. pp. 7, 15 n.4).

Because the permit for this load was not signed, the lower court held it was not valid and “Nesbitt Transportation did not have a proper permit” to haul the load. (R. p. 15 n.4).

Florence Concrete did not appeal those findings. “An unappealed ruling is the law of the case and **requires** affirmance.” *Shirley’s Iron Works, Inc. v. City of Union*, 403 S.C. 560, 573, 743 S.E.2d 778, 785 (2013) (emphasis added). Therefore, it is the law of the case that Florence Concrete owed a duty to Nelson to contract with a shipper with a proper permit and that Nesbitt Transportation did not have a proper permit in this case. Florence Concrete knew or should have known that the permit was unsigned because it put a copy of the permit on the trailer before Nesbitt Transportation picked it up. (R. pp. 19-20).

Florence Concrete should not be allowed to agree in a settlement that it owes a duty to contract with a shipper with operating authority, insurance, and a proper permit but inconsistently argue that this case falls within the general rule that it has **no** liability because Nesbitt Transportation is an independent contractor. It either owes a duty or it does not. Here, the lower court found a duty to contract with a shipper with operating authority, insurance, and a proper permit. Because Florence Concrete did not appeal that finding, this Court must affirm.

II. The Court should affirm the lower court’s application of the independent contractor rule and the inherent danger exception to this case.

The lower court’s application of the independent contractor rule and inherent danger exception follows the law of South Carolina and correctly analyzes the facts of this case. Florence Concrete provides no legal or factual basis to overturn the lower court’s decision.³

“Generally, an employer is not liable for the torts of an independent contractor committed in the performance of contracted work.” *Duane v. Presley Constr. Co.*, 270 S.C. 682, 683, 244 S.E.2d 509, 510 (1978). This is the general rule that Florence Concrete relies upon for its alleged

³ In this Argument section II., Nelson responds to Florence Concrete’s Argument sections I.-II.

absence of a duty in this case. However, as part of its mischaracterization of the lower court's holding, Florence Concrete tries to avoid the law that "[t]he owner is responsible, however, if the injury is caused by **his own negligence** in failing to take preventive measures." *Id.* at 684, 244 S.E.2d at 510 (emphasis added). An "exception to the general rule" that an employer is not liable for the negligence of an independent contractor is that "[l]iability cannot be evaded by employing an independent contractor to do work which is inherently or intrinsically dangerous unless proper precautions are taken." *Alexander v. Seaboard Air Line R.R. Co.*, 221 S.C. 477, 487-88, 71 S.E.2d 299, 303-04 (1952). The lower court correctly applied the exception to the facts of this case.

A. The lower court correctly applied the independent contractor rule.

Florence Concrete's Argument section I. is not so much an issue on appeal as it is a recitation of law and an attempt to misdirect the Court's focus. At issue is the lower court's holding that Florence Concrete is liable for its own conduct in failing to ensure that the oversize load left its lot at a legally permissible time. Florence Concrete misrepresents the issue as whether it should be vicariously liable for Rouse's conduct in leaving at an impermissible time on the morning of the accident. These address two separate acts and two types of liability. The lower court did not rule on the latter argument, and it is not before this Court.

Florence Concrete first argues that the general independent contractor rule applies in this case because Nesbitt Transportation is an independent contractor. (Br. of App. pp. 12-14). That Florence Concrete hired Nesbitt Transportation as an independent contractor is not in dispute. A dispute is whether the facts of this case fall within an **exception** to the general rule. Regardless, Nelson disagrees with Florence Concrete's argument that it hired Nesbitt Transportation because it lacked expertise as a motor carrier. (Br. of App. p. 13). To the contrary, Florence Concrete is

registered as a federal motor carrier with the United States Department of Transportation. (R. pp. 70 ¶ 45, 80 ¶ 45).

Florence Concrete's recitation of exceptions to the nondelegable duty rule is also not applicable to the lower court's rulings. (Br. of App. pp. 14-15). The court based its decision on Nelson's argument "that Florence Concrete is liable for its own conduct in allowing the load to leave its lot at a prohibited time" and not on "vicarious liability." (R. p. 11).⁴ Nondelegable duty relates to vicarious liability and not to the inherent danger exception or a defendant's liability for its own negligent conduct. *Simmons v. Tuomey Reg'l Med. Ctr.*, 341 S.C. 32, 42, 533 S.E.2d 312, 317 (2000) ("The party which owes the nondelegable duty is vicariously liable for negligent acts of the independent contractor."). Therefore, a discussion of nondelegable duty is inapplicable to the lower court's rulings and the true issues on appeal.

When Florence Concrete finally addresses the inherent danger exception, it immediately misstates South Carolina's law on the exception. (Br. of App. p. 15). First, as explained below, inherent danger is not the same as abnormal danger. *Contra* Br. of App. p. 15. Second, Florence Concrete represents to this Court that "[o]nly once has a South Carolina appellate court applied the inherently dangerous exception" and cites to *Alexander v. Seaboard Air Line R.R. Co.*, 221 S.C. 477, 71 S.E.2d 299 (1952). (Br. of App. p. 16). That is incorrect. The Supreme Court also applied it in *Duane v. Presley Constr. Co.*, 270 S.C. 682, 244 S.E.2d 509 (1978), to reverse summary judgment for a developer who failed to take proper precautions to guard against water runoff and silting in a construction project. *Id.* at 684, 244 S.E.2d at 510. The lower court cited to,

⁴ Nelson stated at the motion hearing: "[I]t's not strict liability and it's also not vicarious liability, and the reason it's not vicarious liability is we are not saying that you're liable because Mr. Rouse pulled out the next morning. We're saying you're liable for your own conduct in letting it leave your lot at a time that was illegal. So that's why we've said it's not about nondelegable duty, it's not about vicarious liability. It's about your own negligence." (R. pp. 238-39).

discussed, and applied *Duane* to this case. (R. p. 10). Florence Concrete’s failure to even cite to *Duane*, much less address the court’s analysis of it, shows the weakness of its argument on South Carolina law regarding the inherent danger exception. As explained below, the lower court correctly decided that the exception applies in this case.

B. The lower court correctly held the inherent danger exception applies to the unique facts of this case.

For over seventy years, South Carolina appellate courts have held that, while an employer is generally not liable for the work of an independent contractor, there is an exception to the rule where an employer remains liable for injuries that occur for work that is inherently dangerous when done without proper precautions. “[T]here is a well established exception to the general rule of non-liability where injury results and the means or manner of the activity of the owner whether done by independent contractor or not, may be found to be inherently or intrinsically dangerous to others.” *Allison v. Ideal Laundry Cleaners*, 215 S.C. 344, 350, 55 S.E.2d 281, 282 (1949). “[T]he determining factor is knowledge, actual or implied, on the part of the employer of the dangerous nature of the work. *Id.* at 351, 55 S.E.2d at 283. “Liability of the employer in such cases depends upon his antecedent knowledge of the danger inherent in the work or a finding that the average, reasonably prudent man or corporation should, in the exercise of due diligence, have known.” *Id.* The key considerations are evidence of the defendant’s knowledge of danger and failure to take proper precautions.

Florence Concrete cites to four factors from a North Carolina case as supposedly controlling the application of the inherent danger exception. (Br. of App. p. 18). The Court should reject that framework as an argument that is unpreserved and unsupported by South Carolina law. Florence Concrete did not cite to or discuss those factors in its arguments in the lower court and, therefore, it is not preserved. *See* R. pp. 127-53; *S.C. Dep’t of Transp. v. First Carolina Corp.*, 372

S.C. 295, 301, 641 S.E.2d 903, 907 (2007) (“[A]n issue cannot be raised for the first time on appeal, but must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial judge to be preserved for appellate review.”). Regardless, South Carolina has not adopted the four-part framework proposed by Florence Concrete.⁵ The repeated considerations that South Carolina appellate courts use to decide whether the inherent danger exception applies are the defendant’s knowledge of the danger and whether it took proper precautions. *Allison*, 215 S.C. at 351, 55 S.E.2d at 283; *Alexander*, 221 S.C. at 488-89, 71 S.E.2d at 304; *Duane*, 270 S.C. at 684, 244 S.E.2d at 510. That is the correct analysis the lower court used in this case. (R. pp. 7-15).

i. In this case, transporting an oversize load is an inherently dangerous activity unless proper precautions are taken.

The lower court correctly held that, under the facts of this case, transporting an oversize load is an inherently dangerous activity unless proper precautions are taken. (R. pp. 7-15). The proper precautions are those that can be taken by the employer defendant. Using this case as an example, Florence Concrete had the ability to require and ensure that Nesbitt Transportation left its lot with the oversize load at an allowable time of day.

The lower court gave four, independent bases for finding the inherent danger exception applied—(1) “Florence Concrete agreed in the stipulated facts ‘that being on the road with an oversized shipment at a time that is not allowable creates an *inherent risk and danger* to the public’”; (2) the purpose of the General Assembly and SCDOT’s regulation of the movement of oversize loads is for public safety and supports finding an inherent danger existed when Florence Concrete failed to take proper precautions; (3) in two appellate cases, courts applied the exception in similar situations where the employer knew about danger involved and did not take proper

⁵ Florence Concrete’s knowledge and conduct under the facts of this case would, however, satisfy even the four-part test, as is explained in this Argument section.

precautions; and (4) the cumulative effect of the three prior grounds satisfy the exception even if each individual ground does not. (R. pp. 8-11) (emphasis in original). The law and facts of this case support the lower court's holdings.

First, Florence Concrete challenges whether the activity is inherently dangerous. (Br. of App. pp. 18-25). As an initial matter, Florence Concrete does not challenge the lower court's holding that it "agreed" transporting a load at an illegal time is inherently dangerous. (R. p. 8). Therefore, the Court should affirm based on that unappealed law of the case. *See Ex parte Morris*, 367 S.C. 56, 65, 624 S.E.2d 649, 654 (2006) (stating an "unappealed ruling, right or wrong, is the law of the case and requires affirmance").

Even if the Court addresses the merits, Florence Concrete misstates the law of the inherent danger exception and confuses it with an abnormally dangerous activity. Florence Concrete also improperly analyzes the issue as whether all oversize loads are inherently dangerous. (Br. of App. p. 20). The lower court did not categorically rule that all oversize loads are inherently dangerous. Rather, it ruled based on the unique facts of this case, which is required by South Carolina law. *Allison v. Ideal Laundry & Cleaners*, 215 S.C. 344, 354, 55 S.E.2d 281, 284 (1949) (stating that "virtually every case has to be considered on its own peculiar facts").

An inherently dangerous activity is one in which danger is "[a]n inseparable quality or part of" the activity or is "intrinsic" to it.⁶ *Ballentine's Law Dictionary*. The Supreme Court explained the exception as: "Liability cannot be evaded by employing an independent contractor to do work which is inherently or intrinsically dangerous unless proper precautions are taken." *Alexander v.*

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